
 

 

 

MAYOR'S EXECUTIVE 
DECISION MAKING 

__________________________________ 
 

Tuesday, 1 December 2020 
_______________________________________ 

 
Mayor’s Decision Log No. 197 

______________________________________ 
 

1. CHRISTMAS PROVISION FOR FREE SCHOOL MEALS ELIGIBLE 
CHILDREN  (Pages 3 - 12) 

 

 
If you require any further information relating to this meeting, would like to request a large 
print, Braille or audio version of this document, or would like to discuss access arrangements 
or any other special requirements, please contact: Matthew Mannion, Committee Manager, 
Democratic Services 
Tel:  0207 364 4651,  e-mail: matthew.mannion@towerhamlets.gov.uk;  Webcasts at 
https://towerhamlets.public-i.tv/core/portal/home  

 

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Individual Mayoral Decision 

 

 
 

30 November 2020 

 
Report of: Ann Sutcliffe, Director for Place 

Classification: 
Unrestricted 

Christmas provision for free school meals eligible children 

 

Lead Member Councillor Bustin, Cabinet Member for Planning 
and Social Inclusion (job share) 

Originating Officer(s) Ellie Kershaw, Tackling Poverty Programme 
Manager 

Wards affected All wards 

Key Decision? Yes   

Reason for Key Decision Significant impact on wards 
 

Forward Plan Notice 
Published 

25 November – Special Urgency Notice 

Strategic Plan Priority / 
Outcome 

1. People are aspirational, independent and have 
equal access to opportunities; 
 
2. A borough that our residents are proud of and love 
to live in; 

 

Executive Summary 

The government has provided funding in the form of the covid winter fund which is 
intended to help households in hardship between December and March.  
 
Members would like to use part of this funding to provide support to children in 
receipt of free school meals across the Christmas and February half term holidays. 
 
In order to do so, we will need to purchase vouchers from a range of supermarkets 
to be distributed via the schools. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



 
 
Recommendations: 
 
The Mayor is recommended to:  
 

1. Agree that vouchers should be utilised to support eligible families of free 
school meals and other families with school aged children assessed as 
being in need over Christmas 

2. Authorise the purchase of sufficient vouchers from a range of 
supermarkets that ensure borough coverage 

3. Delegate to the Corporate Director  Children’s Services the power to 
make decisions about how any government funds allocated for the 
purposes of supporting families during the school holidays are spent 
over the next 12 months. 

4. Delegate to the Corporate Director Place and Children’s Services the 
power to authorise the execution of any agreements necessary to give 
effect to recommendations 1 and 2. 

 
 
1 REASONS FOR THE DECISIONS 
 
1.1 The council has received a grant from the Covid Winter fund which is aimed 

at assisting households through the pandemic. One of the ways we wish to 
support households is through a form of assistance with food over the 
period of the Christmas holidays. 

1.2 Various options have been discussed and vouchers were agreed as the 
best option for this period, both because there is very little time to deliver a 
food distribution project and because the council is closed the second week 
of the school holidays making food distribution extremely difficult. 

1.3 The council does not have any appropriate contracts set up to purchase 
vouchers and therefore authorisation is required for officers to be able to do 
so. 

 
 
2 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
2.1 The council could choose not to offer any support over the holidays. As we 

know that many families are suffering from the economic impacts of the 
pandemic, there is a risk that doing nothing would lead to children not eating 
through the holiday period. It is also likely that families would approach for 
support from the Resident Support Scheme instead having a financial impact 
on this scheme. For these reasons, this option is not recommended. 

2.2 The council could provide food to households instead of vouchers. Whilst this 
has the advantage of ensuring families receive healthy food, the logistics 
involved in distribution for both the council and the schools mean that this is 
not a viable option for this holiday. 

2.3 The council could determine whether a supermarket could deliver food boxes 
to households. This would raise potential issues of data sharing as well as 
being admin heavy for the council and schools. For these reasons, this option 

Page 8



is not recommended.  
 
3 DETAILS OF THE REPORT 
 
3.1 The council has received notification of a £1.2 million allocation from the 

Covid Winter Grant. This grant is intended to help households, predominantly 
those with children, who are suffering hardship which is exacerbated by the 
pandemic. The funding is to be used between December and March. 

3.2 Various options have been discussed between Cllrs Bustin and Hassell and a 
range of officers to determine the best way to support families. Taking into 
account the proximity to Christmas (and the council closure over the second 
week of the holidays), it was agreed that for this holiday vouchers would be 
the most appropriate option. 

3.3 The last official count we received from DfE showed 15,089 children eligible 
for free school meals. However, this was in the Spring and is therefore likely 
to have increased due to the economic impacts of the pandemic. For the 
purposes of budgeting we have assumed 17,000 children and will be working 
with schools to confirm the exact number. 

3.4 Public Health undertook some work to ascertain the cost of a week of healthy 
lunches. This shows us that it would be reasonable for a voucher of around 
£25 to be provided to households for each eligible child. This would cost 
approximately £425,000. 

3.5 The next stage would be to liaise with schools to determine how many 
vouchers they require and for which store. We plan to ask schools if they have 
any other pupils who they believe will be at risk of hunger over the holidays, 
and if funding allows, to provide vouchers for those children. The reason for 
this is that families who have newly entered the benefits system may not yet 
have been processed as being entitled to free school meals despite meeting 
the eligibility criteria. 

3.6 Vouchers would then be taken to schools to distribute to the correct families. 
3.7 This is one of a series of grants that government has allocated throughout the 

pandemic. If authority was given to the directors for Place and Children’s 

Services for any funding over the next 12 months that is allocated for the 

purpose of assisting families during school holidays, this would enable the 

council to move more swiftly in enacting a response. 

 
4 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The suggestion is that vouchers are distributed to families in need who would 

be identified mainly through their eligibility for a government scheme. The 
council has alternative schemes that households without children can apply to 
for equivalent support. 

 
5 OTHER STATUTORY IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Best value: Of the potential options for delivering a project to children over the 

holidays, this is the least staff intensive. There is a minimal cost difference 
between the purchase of vouchers and the purchase of appropriate food. This 
is therefore felt to be the option that provides best value. 

Page 9



5.2 Risk management: There is a risk that some households could misuse 
vouchers, using them to purchase items other than food. However, there is 
little evidence that this happens and we believe that the risk of children going 
hungry is the higher risk. 

5.3 Safeguarding: Provision of vouchers will help to ensure that children are fed 
and that household stress is not exacerbated over the Christmas period. 

5.4 Data protection: Data is held by the schools and vouchers would be handed 
out by them. Therefore, this option has no data protection issues. 

 
 
6 COMMENTS OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 
6.1 The Department for Work and Pensions is providing additional funding to 

Local Authorities of £170m in the form of a COVID Winter Grant scheme to 
support children, families and the most vulnerable over winter.  LBTH has 
been allocated £1.2m of funding for a holiday activities and food programme 
covering Christmas 2020 and Easter, Summer and Christmas in 2021.  The 
grant will be paid to the Council in early December 2020, ahead of the 
Christmas break. 

 
6.2 The funding will be ring-fenced, with at least 80% earmarked to support with 

food and bills 
 
6.3 It is estimated that there are 17,000 children eligible for free school meals in 

the Borough and a support package costing £25 per child will be needed to 
provide food over the Christmas holiday period.  This represents a cost of 
£425k and will be covered by the grant.  Due to the proximity to the school 
holiday, it is recommended that this support takes the form of food vouchers 
rather than food parcels. 

 
6.4 Unless further funding is made available, there will be £775k of remaining 

grant monies available to cover the main school holidays in 2021 or an 
average amount of £258k for each holiday programme.  This is significantly 
less than the amount being spent on the food voucher scheme and as a result 
careful consideration will need to be given to future service provision.  Any 
additional spend over the grant funding will represent a cost pressure to the 
general fund for which budgetary provision will need to be identified. 

 
 
7 COMMENTS OF LEGAL SERVICES  
 
7.1 The Council has the legal duty to promote and safeguard the welfare of 

children in need in their area. Section 17 of the Children Act 1989 imposes a 
duty on the Council to provide a range level of services appropriate to those 
children in need. 
 

7.2 This report seeks approval to purchase food vouchers from selected stores, 
indicated by the schools, to provide support  to vulnerable households and 
families with children particularly affected by the pandemic during the school 
holidays. The vouchers purchase will be funded via the COVID Winter Grant 

Page 10



Scheme made available by the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP). 
The Grant Scheme is ring fenced to support the cost of food, energy and 
water bills and other associated costs. 

7.3 Under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 the vouchers purchase from 
selected stores constitute and award without competition 

7.4 However, Regulation 32 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 allows 
contracting authorities to award public contracts without advertising where the 
time limits for the open or restricted procedures or competitive procedures 
with negotiation cannot be complied with due to extreme urgency brought 
about by events unforeseeable by the contracting authority. 

7.5 The Grant Scheme Letter, issued on 10 November 2020 by the DWP, 
provides that Local Authorities must be ready to deliver the scheme by early 
December 2020 and are asked to take immediate actions to administer the 
Grant. This means that the Council does not have sufficient time to carry out a 
procurement exercise compliant with the requirements and timescales set out 
in the regulations,  as actions need to be taken as a matter of urgency. 
Furthermore, the Council could have not predicted the issuing of the Grant by 
the DWP in any meaningful way. 

7.6 Therefore, the Council is compliant with the requirements of regulation 32. 

7.7 Failure to deliver the scheme within the set timeline imposed by DWP will put 
vulnerable people at risk and put the Council in breach of its statutory duty 
and the conditions of the Grant. 

 
____________________________________ 

 
 
Linked Reports, Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Linked Report 

 None 

 
Appendices 

 None 

 
Background Documents – Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)(Access 
to Information)(England) Regulations 2012 

 None 

 
Officer contact details for documents: 
N/A 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Christmas provision for free school meals eligible children
	20201120 IMD Christmas provision


